S251135

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN BUSKER, Plaintiff and Appellant,

FILED

JAN 2 2 2019

V.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

WABTEC CORPORATION, ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT, CASE NO. 17-55165

JUDGE OTIS D. WRIGHT, II, CASE NO. 2-15-CV-08194-ODW-AFM

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DONAHOO & ASSOCIATES, LLP

Richard E. Donahoo, SBN 186957 440 West First Street, Suite 101 Tustin, California 92780 Telephone: (714) 953-1010

Telephone: (714) 953-1010 Email: rdonahoo@donahoo.com

FOLEY, BEZEK, BEHLE & CURTIS, LLP

ISSUE CERTIFIED FOR REVIEW

This Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request to resolve the following certified question: "Whether work installing electrical equipment on locomotives and rail cars (i.e., the 'on-board work' for Metrolink's PTC project) falls within the definition of 'public works' under California Labor Code § 1720(a)(1) either (a) as constituting 'construction' or 'installation' under the statute or (b) as being integral to other work performed for the PTC project on the wayside (i.e., the 'field installation work')?"

INTRODUCTION

While the issue certified by this Court for review is profoundly important to employees in this state, the Court may resolve that issue in a relatively narrow manner by deciding the following question: When a general contractor enters into a government contract for a public work entitling workers executing the contract to a prevailing wage and the general contractor then subcontracts aspects of that contract to another employer, are the employees working on that subcontract also entitled to a prevailing wage if their work is necessary to the successful completion of the general contract? Stated another way, can employers who enter into a general contract for a public work avoid paying a prevailing wage for an aspect of that work by subcontracting it to a subcontractor regardless of whether, without the work under the subcontract, the remaining work performed under the general contract would be useless. The clear answer is that employers cannot avoid paying the prevailing wage in this manner.

Under Labor Code section 1772, so long as the subcontract was "in the execution of any contract for public work," plaintiff was "deemed to be employed upon public work" and entitled to prevailing wages. (*Ibid.*)

Under controlling case law, this determination turns on whether the subcontract was "integral" to the general contract. As described in detail below, there is no question that here the subcontract entered into by Plaintiff's employer (Wabtec) was integral to the general contract between Parsons and Metrolink.

The general contract between Parsons and Metrolink was to install a computerized communications system known as a Positive Train Control ("PTC") System. The parties to the general contract agreed that the work retained by Parsons to install the communications equipment on track wayside (referred to by the Ninth Circuit as the Field "Installation work") was a public work entitling the employees performing that work to be paid a prevailing wage. Parsons subcontracted with Wabtec to install into the rail cars the equipment which would communicate with the equipment installed along with wayside. The Ninth Circuit referred to this Work as the "On-board" work Without the On-board work the Field Installation work would be useless because there would be no communications transmitted to be received by the equipment installed in the field.

The Ninth Circuit agreed that the work Wabtec performed was in execution of the Parsons general contract. However, the Court read certain cases as recognizing an alternative test under which work under a subcontract falls within section 1772 only if that work were necessary to the physical completion of the general contract. The Court reasoned that if this alternative test were accepted by this Court then it would be questionable whether the Wabtec subcontract fell within section 1772.

As explained, the cases referenced by the Ninth Circuit do not support adoption of this alternative test. Those cases instead actually support the primary test identified by the Ninth Circuit. If the work being performed under the subcontract was integral to the work under the general contract, then section 1772 is implicated and a prevailing wage is required.

There is nothing in the language, history or purpose of section 1772 to support holding that only work under a subcontract necessary to the physical completion of the general contract falls within section 1772 while work under a subcontract which is necessary to avoid rendering the general contract absolutely useless would fall outside of section 1772. A central purpose of section 1772 is to prevent employers from contracting around their obligation to pay a prevailing wage. But that is precisely what Wabtec seeks to accomplish here.

Thus, plaintiff urges this Court to hold what the Court of Appeal opinions on point already recognize. If work under the subcontract is needed to avoid rendering the work under the public works general contract futile, then section 1772 is implicated and the employees under section 1772 are entitled to be paid a prevailing wage.

Second, even viewing the Wabtec subcontract in isolation, plaintiff was entitled to a prevailing wage. That subcontract met the definition of both "installation" and "construction," each of which triggered the obligation to pay a prevailing wage. In ruling to the contrary, the district court grafted a requirement onto section 1720 so that it applied only to an installation or construction involving fixed works on realty or land. But nothing in the language, purpose or history of the statute, or applicable regulations, justified this judicially-enacted condition. Nor is there an arbitrary exception for work that otherwise falls within the public works statutes just because the work is performed on rolling stock, as Wabtec argued below. The Legislature has never promulgated a "rolling-stock" exception and the Court should not do so here.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

A. Introduction To The Southern California Regional Rail Authority, Otherwise Known As Metrolink.

The Southern California Regional Rail Authority, otherwise known as "Metrolink," is a public entity formed by a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement pursuant to Government Code section 6500 et seq. that consists of five member agencies including the Los Angeles County Transportation Commission. (IV-ER-780; VII-ER-1572-85.)¹ With more than 500 miles of rail network spanning six Southern California counties and an average weekday ridership in excess of 40,000, Metrolink is the second largest commuter rail system by size and the fifth largest by ridership in the United States. (IV-ER-780.)

B. Metrolink Contracts with Parsons To Build and Install a Single, Comprehensive Communications Network That Would Link Wayside Signals and Trains to a Centralized Dispatch Office.

On October 15, 2010, Metrolink entered into a \$116 million contract with Parsons Transportation Group, Inc. ("Parsons") to build and install a comprehensive communications network, known as a Positive Train Control ("PTC") System that would link wayside signals and trains to a

¹The citations to the "ER" are to the excerpts of record that were filed in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in connection with plaintiff's appeal in this matter.

centralized dispatch office. (IV-ER-781; VII-ER-1477, 1478.)² The project was in response to the tragic Chatsworth commuter train collision which resulted in 25 fatalities. (IV-ER-781.) The project, which in total cost more than \$216 million, was publicly funded with approximately 85% of the funding coming from state and local sources, and the remaining 15% coming from federal funds—including \$17.8 million from American Reinvestment and Recovery Act ("Recovery Act") formula funds, and a \$3.4 million grant awarded under the Passenger Rail Investment and Improvement Act of 2008 ("PRIIA").³ (III-ER-556; IV-ER-778, 782.)

Under the terms of the contract, the PTC System to be "designed, furnished, and installed" by Parsons included "without limitation each, every, and all systems, subsystems, components, [and] constituent parts." (VII-ER-1475.) Metrolink's approach to the PTC System project was "to structure the required work . . . so that a major portion . . . is delivered through a single advanced technology" and through a single contract with a single contractor, Parsons. (VI-ER-1296.) Metrolink determined that "[s]ystem integration and interface conflicts and other problems will be avoided by having a single contract and entity, [Parsons], responsible for developing, delivering, [and] integrating" the PTC System. (VI-ER-1296.) Metrolink acknowledged that the PTC System would be "complex" and

² The PTC System is designed to prevent train-to-train collisions, overspeed derailments, unauthorized incursion into work zones, train movement through switches left in the wrong position, as well as accidents caused by the running of a red light. The PTC System monitors and, if necessary, controls train movement in the event of human error. (IV-ER ER-781.)

³ It was undisputed below that "[p]rojects funded through the Recovery Act and all projects funded through PRIIA that use rights-of-way owned by a railroad are required to comply with [federal prevailing wage requirements as set forth in] the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. [§] 3141 *et seq.*)." (III-ER-568; *see also* III-ER-549-54; II-ER-99 (Wabtec asserting that this fact is "not disputed for purposes of this motion").)

would rely on the "successful integration of many complex products, . . . with systems and components located on trains, at wayside locations including signals, terminals, yards, communication sites, and at centralized train control centers all linked through a highly reliable communications network." (VI-ER-1296; *see also* VI-ER-1313 ("the PTC System shall provide integrated control and communications capabilities").)

The contract contemplated several different types of work, including the installation of PTC equipment on all 57 cab cars and 52 locomotives in the Metrolink fleet ("on-board work"), as well as extensive equipping of the "wayside" (the area along the side of the tracks). (IV-ER-781; VI-ER-1313-15; VII-ER-1554-57, 1561.) The work performed along the wayside—which the contract characterized as "field installation work" (VI-ER-1140; VII-ER-1505)—included trenching, welding, installing towers for radio antennas, driving forklifts, and operating cranes. (VII-ER-1555-57.) The successful integration of both the on-board work and the field installation work was critical to the ultimate functioning of the PTC System. (VI-ER-1130; VII-ER-1566-68; VIII-ER-1738, 1739-40.)

Wabtec contends that the general contract only required payment of prevailing wages on "Field Installation" work in the railroad track wayside. But a specific contract provision specifically addresses that contention and whether the parties to the general contract intended to exempt certain subcontracts from the requirement. Section 34.10.2 entitled "Prevailing Wages" provides:

Vendor/Integrator [Parsons] shall comply with California Labor Code Sections 1770 to 1780, inclusive. In accordance with Section 1775, the Vendor/Integrator shall forfeit as a penalty to the Authority an amount as determined by the Labor Commissioner not to exceed \$50 for each calendar day or portion thereof for each worker paid less than stipulated prevailing wage rates for such work or craft in which such worker is employed for any work done under the contract by

him or by any Subcontractor under it in violation of the revisions of the Labor Code and in particular, Labor Code Sections 1770 to 1780, inclusive. In addition to said penalty and pursuant to Section 1775, the difference between such stipulated prevailing wage rates and the amount paid to each worker for each calendar day or portion thereof for which each worker was paid less than the stipulated prevailing wage rate shall be paid to each worker by Vendor/Integrator. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 1773 of the Labor Code, the Authority has obtained the general prevailing rate of per diem wages and the general prevailing rate for holiday and overtime work applicable to the work to be done from the Director of the Department of Industrial Relations. However, if any work is Federally assisted, Vendor/Integrator must also comply with Federal labor standards, including the requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act, as listed in Section 34.12. In addition, the Vendor/Integrator must ascertain with the U.S. Department of Labor the prevailing hourly rate. However, if Federal and State wage rates both are applicable, then the higher of the two will prevail.

The entirety of section 34 was expressly incorporated and made applicable to Wabtec in the Wabtec-Parsons subcontract. (VI-ER-1227, 1286; see also VII-ER-1339.)

C. Parsons Subcontracts With Wabtec To Furnish, Install,
Test, And Certify The PTC Equipment On Metrolink
Trains.

In November 2010, Parsons entered into a \$27 million subcontract with appellee Wabtec Corporation ("Wabtec") under the terms of which Wabtec was responsible for "implementation of the on-board PTC System Segment on the [Metrolink] fleet"—i.e., the "on-board work" discussed above. (VI-ER-1234, 1285; *see also* VII-ER-1561, 1565.) In particular, Wabtec was responsible for the "design, furnishing, installation, testing,

and certification of the on-board PTC components, equipment and system." (VI-ER-1234.) The Parsons-Wabtec subcontract incorporated by reference several provisions from the Metrolink-Parsons prime contract—*including* the prevailing wage provisions in Article 34 of the general contract, quoted above. (VI-ER-1227, 1286; *see also* VII-ER-1339.)

Despite the express language incorporating compliance with the PWL into its subcontract, language to which Wabtec did not object, Wabtec admitted it proceeded with the work in execution of its subcontract without paying prevailing wages. (VII-ER-1339-1340.)

D. Busker Is Hired By Wabtec To Install And Test PTC Equipment On Metrolink Locomotives.

Plaintiff John Busker is a highly skilled electrician and electronics technician with many years of training and experience—including eight years of service in the United States Navy—performing installation, maintenance, troubleshooting and repair of complex and specialized electronic and communication systems and subsystems. (VI-ER-1089-90; VIII-ER-1735-36.) Following his honorable discharge from the Navy in 2012, Busker was hired by Wabtec as a "Field Service Technician" to perform Wabtec's work on the Metrolink PTC System project. (VIII-ER-1736; V-ER-880.) He learned of the Field Service Technician position from an online job posting and was introduced to Wabtec through a vendor, Visron Technical, LLC, that had posted and advertised the position. (VI-ER-1119; VIII-ER-1736; IX-ER-1914.) After being interviewed by Wabtec Project Manager Sonny Fricia at Keller Yard in Los Angeles, California, Busker was hired by Wabtec to perform installation and testing

of the on-board components of the Metrolink PTC System.⁴ (VI-ER-1120-21; VIII-ER-1736.)

Busker worked for Wabtec on the Metrolink PTC System project from April 2013 until March 2015. (VIII-ER-1736.) Busker's work was performed entirely on-site at the project's Keller Yard and the Central Maintenance Facility, and included installing electrical, electronic and communications components of the PTC System on Metrolink locomotives and cab cars. (VI-ER-1125-27; VIII-ER-1736, 1738.) Busker's work on the Metrolink project was directed, controlled, and supervised by Wabtec manager Mark Martin, who also determined Busker's compensation. (VIII-ER-1737, 1739.) Initially, Busker was paid an hourly rate of \$22.50 for his work on the Metrolink project; by the time he stopped working for Wabtec in March 2015, his pay had increased to \$25 per hour. (VI-ER-1124; VIII-ER-1737; IX-ER-1954.)

E. Busker Files A Prevailing Wage Complaint With The California Department Of Industrial Relations, Division Of Labor Standards Enforcement.

In May 2015, shortly after he stopped working for Wabtec, Busker submitted a complaint to the Department of Industrial Relations ("DIR"), Division of Labor Standards Enforcement ("DLSE"), averring that he had not been paid prevailing wages for his work on the Metrolink PTC System

⁴ For purposes of resolving the prevailing wage issue, Busker's status as a Wabtec employee was not disputed below. (VIII-ER-1783; *see also* III-ER-316.)

project.⁵ (IX-ER-1963-64.) After receiving a second, similar complaint from another worker on the Metrolink PTC System project, the DLSE opened an investigation in June 2015. (VII-ER-1395-96; IX-ER-1915.) The investigation was led by Deputy Labor Commissioner Yoon Mi-Jo and was supervised by Kenneth Madu, a Senior Deputy Labor Commissioner III with twenty-five years of experience working for the DIR. (VII-ER-1392-93, 1395.)

Upon learning that an investigation had been opened, Wabtec wrote to Deputy Labor Commissioner Jo on June 24, 2015 and asserted its position that the "work that Wabtec has provided on the Metrolink project is not subject to California's prevailing wage laws." (III-ER-407.) Noting that the Metrolink-Parsons contract distinguishes between "field installation" work and "system installation work on board of locomotives," counsel insisted that the contract "clearly" states that only field installation work is potentially subject to California's prevailing wage laws. (III-ER-407.) And according to counsel, "[t]he provision of on-board locomotive Positive Train Control systems and their incidental installation is the only work that Wabtec provides on the Metrolink project." (III-ER-407.)

Similarly, in a letter to Deputy Labor Commissioner Jo dated August 17, 2015, counsel for Metrolink asserted that "the PTC Project is not a public works project, and the work in question performed by Wabtec is not

⁵ The DLSE investigates worker complaints, but it does *not* make "coverage determinations." (VIII-ER-1397-1401, 1403, 1435-36.) A coverage determination is a formal process in which the awarding body or any other interested party (such as a contractor, employee, union or labor-management compliance organization) may request a written determination by the director of the DIR about a specific construction project or type of work to be performed. (VIII-ER-1436-37; *see* Cal. Code Regs. tit. 8, § 16001(a).) Only the Office of the Director of the DIR is empowered to make a coverage determination. (VIII-ER-1397-1401, 1403, 1436; *see* Cal. Code Regs. tit. 8, § 16001(a).)

subject to prevailing wage or other Labor Code requirements." (III-ER-390.) According to Metrolink, the software and hardware installation work performed by Wabtec on Metrolink trains was not covered by prevailing wage requirements because trains are "not 'fixed works." (III-ER-390-91.) Rather, in Metrolink's view, trains, boats, buses, and the like all qualify as "rolling stock," and installation work performed on rolling stock is always exempt from prevailing wage and other Labor Code requirements. (III-ER-391.) Metrolink acknowledged that the installation work performed on the wayside *is* subject to prevailing wage requirements, but noted that this work was not performed by Wabtec. (III-ER-1179-80.)

F. While The DLSE Investigation Is Pending, Busker
Initiates A Putative Class Action In Los Angeles County
Superior Court; Wabtec Removes The Action To Federal
Court.

On September 11, 2015—while the DLSE investigation was pending—appellant John Busker initiated the underlying putative class action against Wabtec and his former supervisor, Mark Martin, in Los Angeles County Superior Court. (XIV-ER-3115-30.) Thereafter, on October 15, 2015, Busker filed the operative, first amended complaint (again, in state court) alleging causes of action for (1) failure to pay minimum and overtime wages; (2) failure to pay prevailing wages on a public work; (3) failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements; (4) waiting time penalties under California Labor Code section 203; (5) unfair business competition; (6) declaratory relief; and (7) penalties pursuant to

⁶ Unless context requires otherwise, Wabtec and Martin are collectively referred to as "Wabtec" throughout this brief.

California Labor Code section 2699.⁷ (XIII-ER-2873-89.) On October 19, 2015, Wabtec removed the action to federal court under the Class Action Fairness Act ("CAFA"), codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). (XIV-ER-3218-24.)

G. The DLSE Concludes That Wabtec Violated The
California Labor Code By Failing To Pay Prevailing
Wages And Issues A Civil Wage And Penalty Assessment
For Nearly \$6.5 Million.

On December 22, 2015, the DLSE formally determined that the Metrolink PTC project was a public works project and that Wabtec had violated the California Labor Code by "fail[ing] to pay prevailing wages." (III-ER-347.) The DLSE issued a Civil Wage and Penalty Assessment against Parsons and Wabtec for prevailing wages in the amount of \$5,786,349 and related penalties of \$682,215. (III-ER-347.)

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