### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## FILED

### JOHN BUSKER,

MAR 25 2019

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

WABTEC Corporation, et al.,

Deputy

Defendants-Respondents.

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, Case No. 17-55165 Judge Otis D. Wright, II, Case No. 2-15-cv-08194-ODW-AFM

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\*Craig E. Stewart (SBN #129530) JONES DAY 555 California Street, 26th Floor San Francisco, CA 94104 Telephone: (415) 626-3939 Facsimile: (415) 875-5700 cestewart@jonesday.com

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

#### ARGUMENT

## I. WORK PERFORMED ON TRAINS IS NOT "PUBLIC WORK" UNDER THE LABOR CODE.

The Legislature enacted the public works statute during the Great Depression. It requires the payment of "prevailing" wages to workers employed on "public works" projects. Codified later in the Labor Code, the statute addresses projects on realty; its provisions all address work on streets, railways, highways, and other structures for public use. It does not contemplate as "public work" tasks carried out on trains or other forms of rolling stock. The statute's text, structure, and purpose as well as court precedent all point to this conclusion. Agency rulings confirm as much.

# A. The text, structure, and purpose of the statute as well as court precedent show that work on trains is not "public work."

Section 1771 requires that "prevailing" wages "be paid to all workers employed on public works." (Emphasis added.) Both before and after the statute's enactment, the term "public works" has been uniformly understood to mean works on realty: "all fixed works constructed for public use, [such] as railways, docks, canals, water-works, roads." (6 Century Dictionary and Cyclopedia (1897) p. 4830; A Standard Dictionary of the English Language (1908) p. 1443 ["permanent works or improvements made for public use or benefit, as roads, canals, or harbors"]; 22 California Jurisprudence (1925) p. 74 ["The term 'public works' may be said to embrace all fixed works constructed for public use or protection"]; Webster's New International Dictionary (1936) p. 2005 ["[a]ll fixed works constructed or built for public use or enjoyment, as railroads, docks, canals"]; Concise Oxford English Dictionary (2008) p. 1161 ["[t]he work of building roads, schools, hospitals, etc., carried out by the state"]; American Heritage Dictionary (2011) p. 1424 ["[c]onstruction projects, such as highways or dams, financed by public funds"].) The term "work" or "works" also refers to "a fortified structure (as a fort, earthen barricade, or trench)" or "structures in engineering (as docks, bridges, or embankments) or mining (such as shafts or tunnels)." (Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary (1988) p. 1358.)

The statutory definition of "public works" reflects this common understanding of the term. The subparagraphs within section 1720(a) describing specifically what constitutes public works make that clear. Subparagraph (a)(2) says "public works" includes "[w]ork done for irrigation, utility, reclamation, and improvement districts"; subparagraph (a)(3) refers to "[s]treet, sewer, or other improvement work"; subparagraphs

(a)(4) and (a)(5) refer to "laying of carpet" in a "building"; subparagraph (a)(6) refers to "[p]ublic transportation demonstration projects authorized pursuant to Section 143 of the Streets and Highways Code," which defines a "[t]ransportation project" as the "construction . . . of highway, public street, rail, or related facilities" operated by local transportation agencies; subparagraph (a)(7) refers to "[i]nfrastructure project grants"; and subparagraph (a)(8) refers to "[t]ree removal work." All refer to work on realty.

The subparagraph at issue here "must be construed in [that] context." (California Mfrs. Assn. v. P.U.C.. (1979) 24 Cal.3d 836, 844.) Section 1720(a)(1) describes "public works" as "[c]onstruction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work done under contract and paid for in whole or in part out of public funds." These terms make sense only in the context of public works as ordinarily understood. In particular, "construction" in this setting means the process of erecting a structure on realty, and "installation" means fixing in place items, such as equipment, on or inside a structure as part of the construction process. (See *infra*, at p. 20 n. 3.)

Likewise in this context the remaining terms ("alteration," "demolition," and "repair" work) must also be construction-related terms. Absent any context, "installation" might be conceived as encompassing tasks unrelated to realty such as *software* installation; "alteration" could be read to include *clothing* alteration; or "repair" might be interpreted to cover *eyeglass* repair. But such context-less interpretations would fall outside of what the Legislature had in mind when it enacted the public works statute, which "was designed to benefit the construction worker on public construction projects." (*O.G. Sansone Co. v. Dept. of Trans.* (1976) 55 Cal.App.3d 434, 461.) Words cannot be read "in a vacuum," and interpretations that "defy common sense" should "be avoided." (*California Mfrs., supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 844; *People v. Garcia* (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1116,

1124.) Several dictionaries—including one about *public works*—confirm that the terms in section 1720(a)(1) refer to works on realty. These sources all refer to construction and installation in the context of projects on realty.<sup>3</sup>

Nor is the term "installation" rendered superfluous if understood as part of the "construction" process. The Legislature added "installation" in 2001 to *codify* then-existing interpretations by the Department of Industrial Relations that included within the public works statute installing fixtures on realty as part of the construction process.<sup>4</sup> The Legislature was concerned

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., The Contractors' Dictionary of Equipment, Tools, and Techniques for Civil Engineering, Construction, Forestry, Open-Pit Mining, and Public Works (1995) pp. 140, 171, 313 ["construction work" defined as "[w]ork that contributes to a physical structure"; "demolition" means "[b]reaking and removal of buildings and structures"]; A Dictionary of Environmental and Civil Engineering (2000) p. 123 ["construction" means "[p]lacement, assembly, or installation of facilities or equipment (including contractual obligations to purchase such facilities or equipment) at the premises where such equipment will be used, including preparation work at such premises"]; Architecture and Building Trades Dictionary (3d ed. 1950) pp. 7, 85, 255 ["construction" means "[t]he process of assembling materials and erecting a structure"; "alteration" refers to "any change in rearrangement in the structural parts of a building or in the facilities": "repairs" means "[a]ny labor or materials provided to restore, reconstruct, or renew any existing part of a building, its fixtures or appurtenances"]; Dictionary of Architecture and Construction (2000) p. 227 ["construction" means "[a]ll the on-site work done in building or altering structures, from land clearance through completion, including excavation, erection, and the assembly and installation of components and equipment; "[a] structure"].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Enrolled Bill Report re: SB 975, Department of Industrial Relations (Sept. 20, 2001) pp. 2–3 (RJN, Ex. A) ["installation" amendment "would codify existing DIR precedential public works determinations on installations issued by the current Director"], citing *Installation of Playground Equipment* (Sept. 22, 1999) PW 99-006 (RJN, Ex. I) ["installation of the playground equipment involves construction"]; *Installation of Gym Lockers* (Sept. 22, 1999) PW 99-011 (RJN, Ex. J) ["The installation includes on site assembly, which consists of bolting the lockers to existing concrete pads."]; *Foodservice Contract Design* (Sept.

that a future administration might "rescind the precedential determinations" and exclude such installation work as not rising "to the level of construction." (Enrolled Bill Report re: SB 975, at p. 3 (RJN, Ex. A).) The amendment forecloses that possibility and reinforces the conclusion that "installation" means work on realty as part of the construction process.

More contextual confirmation exists for this view. The *exceptions* to section 1720(a)'s definition of public work all address real property; none involves rolling stock. Sections 1720(c) and (d) exempt the following: certain "[p]rivate residential projects built on private property" (c)(1); when a state "requires a private developer to perform construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work on a public work of improvement as a condition of regulatory approval of an otherwise private development project" (c)(2); when a state "reimburses a private developer for [certain] costs" (c)(3); "construction or rehabilitation of affordable housing units" (c)(4); "construction or rehabilitation of [certain] privately owned residential projects"; "[q]ualified residential rental projects" (d)(1); "[s]ingle-family residential projects" (d)(2); "[l]ow-income housing projects" (d)(3). That no exceptions exist for projects on movable objects or other personal property shows that the definition never covered such

<sup>22, 1999)</sup> PW 99-024 (RJN, Ex. K) [installing "kitchen equipment, tables, and countertops at the school"]; Installation of Fencing (Sept. 23, 1999) PW 99-012 (RJN, Ex. L) ["[Temporary fencing] will be erected as a permanent fence using concrete footings to hold the metal posts"]; Installation of Signage by Marketshare (Sept. 29, 1999) PW 99-034 (RJN, Ex. M) ["The installation of the signage constitutes construction"]; Installation of Gym Lockers, Bleachers, Basketball and Volleyball Equipment (Nov. 10, 1999) PW 99-050 (RJN, Ex. N) ["installation . . . consists of bolting the lockers to existing concrete pads"]; Toilet Partition/Bathroom Accessories Installation (Nov. 10, 1999) PW 99-061 (RJN, Ex. O) ["installation of toilet partitions and bathroom accessories involves construction"]; Metal Lockers and Metal Storage Shelving (Nov. 30, 1999) PW 99-060 (RJN, Ex. P) ["installation of metal lockers and metal storage shelves" at police facility "involves construction"].

projects in the first place. But the Legislature *did* see a need to exempt certain types of work done on realty, such as the construction of affordable housing units—an exemption designed to keep down costs. (See *infra*, at p. 24; cf. *Reliable Tree Experts v. Baker* (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 785, 795 & n.9 ["[P]rovisions of the Prevailing Wage Law specifying exceptions only reinforce the existence of the general principle that maintenance work is covered"].)

Amendments to the statute substantiate its focus on realty. (See, e.g., § 1720.2 ["public works' also means any construction work done under private contract" if "more than 50 percent of the assignable square feet of the property is leased to the state or a political subdivision for its use"].) When work is not directly done on the site itself—such as transporting materials—but the Legislature wished to subject that type of work to prevailing wages, it made its intent clear by adding narrow definitions. (See § 1720.3(a) ["hauling of refuse from a public works site to an outside disposal location"]; § 1720.9 ["hauling and delivery of readymixed concrete to carry out a public works contract"].) If the Legislature had intended to cover rolling stock, it would have done so already.

Other statutes pertaining to public works also exclude rolling stock. (Gov. Code, § 4002 ["public work' means the construction of any bridge, road, street, highway, ditch, canal, dam, tunnel, excavation, building or structure within the State by day's labor or force account"]; Pub. Contract Code, § 1101 ["Public works contract,' . . . means an agreement for the erection, construction, alteration, repair, or improvement of any public structure, building, road, or other public improvement of any kind"].) Plaintiff contends that the specificity of the definition in these statutes means that the more general language in section 1720 should be interpreted to include rolling stock. (Br. 44.) To the contrary, the statutes show that they share a common understanding of public works as construction

projects on realty. That was the Legislature's intent. (See Senate Third Reading of SB 1999 (Aug. 23, 2000) (RJN, Ex. E) [citing the Public Contract Code's definition of a "public works contract" as relevant authority when discussing an amendment to the Labor Code].) And that is how the Attorney General has understood it. (See AG Op. 11-304 (Dec. 24, 2012) 95 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 102 (9 ER 2030–32) [stating that the definitions in the Labor Code, Government Code, and Public Contract Code refer to the same common understanding of public works].)

Plaintiff's approach of construing "public works" differently across the statutes makes no sense. The Government Code requires an "accurate account of the cost of the public work" (Gov. Code, § 4003), and the Public Contract Code requires that the "contents of bids or offers" for "the construction of any public work" contain information including a "public works contractor registration number issued pursuant to Section 1725.5 of the Labor Code." (Pub. Contract Code, § 4104.) But under Plaintiff's view, a contract for "public work" (under the Labor Code) may not be subject to the accounting requirements for construction of a "public work" (under the Government Code) or the bidding requirements for a "public works" contract (under the Public Contract Code). That disjointed result contravenes the canon that statutes pertaining to the same subject "should be read together and harmonized." (Louisiana-Pacific Corp. v. Humboldt Bay (1982) 137 Cal. App. 3d 152, 156.) The statutory cross-referencing also confirms that the statutes share the same understanding of public works. (See § 1771.1(a) [citing "the requirements of Section 4104 of the Public Contract Code"].)

Section 1720's purpose validates this point. The statute "was designed to benefit the construction worker on public construction projects"—and generally "construction projects of substantial dimension," such as highways and dams. (O.G. Sansone, supra, 55 Cal.App.3d at

p. 461; AG Op. 11-304 (Dec. 24, 2012) 95 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 102 (9 ER 2030, 2032) ["The term [public works] . . . appears consistently to signify construction projects on a substantial scale"]; AG Op. 86-803 (Dec. 31, 1986) 69 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 300, 303 ["The purpose of prevailing wage laws is to obtain well-qualified, competent and efficient workers for the construction of public facilities by assuring that they are paid commensurate with those working in private industry"].) As precedent has recognized, "[t]here is a natural, intrinsic distinction between public works contracts and other public contracts." (O.G. Sansone, supra, 55 Cal.App.3d at p. 461.) "The Legislature having ascertained the existence of a situation in the field of construction of public works which called for remedial action could act to remedy that situation without making the legislation applicable to every public contract." (Ibid.) Work on fixed projects on realty fits this purpose; work on personal property such as rolling stock does not.

The legislative history points in the same direction. The law reflects a balance between labor interests and cost. For instance, a proposal to expand public works to include certain affordable housing projects failed due to public concern that labor costs would constrain development. (See Senate Bill 975 (RJN, Ex. B) [as amended in Assembly on June 25, 2001]; Letter from California Redevelopment Assn. to Sen. Alarcon re: SB 975 (June 28, 2001) (RJN, Ex. C); D. Weintraub, Sacramento Bee, *Taking from the Poor and Giving it to the Unions* (Sept. 6, 2001) (RJN, Ex. D).) Similarly, increased costs on transportation projects would be borne by commuters (*i.e.*, higher train fares and fewer public transit options) many of whom rely on affordable public transportation. (Cf. R. Gallamore & J. Meyer, *American Railroads: Decline and Renaissance in the Twentieth Century* (Harv. Univ. Press 2014) p. 109 ["deficits, coupled with increasing demands from railroad labor, caused railways to raise fares"].) Imposing prevailing wage burdens would multiply costs to the public in other ways as

well: requiring not only businesses to create and maintain additional records and to pay above-market wages, but also the government to expend more taxpayer resources to enforce the law through increased investigations, prosecutions, and adjudications. These are "issues of high public policy." (*State Bldg. & Const. Trades Council of Cal. v. Duncan* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 289, 324.) And "to strike a balance between the[m] is the essential function of the Legislature, not a court." (*Ibid.*) Here the Legislature reasonably required prevailing wages only for public works as commonly understood.<sup>5</sup>

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